IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION (HOLDINGS) USA, INC.,

Appellant,

v.

NEVADA LABOR COMMISSIONER, et al.,

Respondents.

Supreme Court Case No.: 71101

PETITIONER BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION (HOLDINGS) USA, INC.'S OPENING BRIEF

GARY C. MOSS State Bar No. 4340 PAUL T. TRIMMER State Bar No. 9291 JACKSON LEWIS P.C. 3800 Howard Hughes Parkway Suite 600 Las Vegas, NV 89169

Attorneys for Petitioner/Appellant

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

Pursuant to NRAP 26.1, counsel for Bombardier Transportation (Holdings)

USA, Inc. identifies the following entity and persons which must be disclosed

pursuant to NRAP 26(1)(a):

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRS 233B.130. The Labor Commissioner issued his Final Order within the meaning of NRS 233B.130(1)(b) on March 6, 2014. Bombardier Transportation (Holdings) USA, Inc. ("Bombardier") filed a petition for judicial review (the "Petition") on April 4, 2014. The Eighth Judicial District Court denied Bombardier's Petition on July 11, 2016 (the "2016 Order"). Bombardier appealed on August 16, 2016. The Labor Commissioner moved to dismiss the appeal for lack of jurisdiction on March 14, 2017. The Court denied the Labor Commissioner's motion on July 17, 2017 and held that the matter was properly before the Court for resolution.

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

This case arises out of the International Union of Elevator Constructors' (the "Union") claim that Bombardier's Maintenance Technicians are entitled to prevailing wage rates for work performed under Clark County's contract with Bombardier for the maintenance of the automated train system ("ATS") at McCarran International Airport ("Airport"). That contract, which is designated CBE-552, was executed in June 2008, but it was merely a continuation of the maintenance work that Bombardier had been performing since 1982. Like the County's other maintenance contracts, including contracts for the

maintenance of its buses and elevator systems, CBE-552 has never been considered a public works project which requires the payment of prevailing wages under NRS Chapter 338.

When the Complaint came before the Labor Commissioner for hearing in the summer and fall of 2013, Bombardier and Clark County argued that the prevailing wage requirements of NRS Chapter 338 do not apply to CBE-552 because it is a maintenance contract, not a public works project –within the meaning of NRS 338.010(16).

Because NRS 338.011(1)¹ specifically exempts contracts which are "directly related to the normal operation ... or the normal maintenance" of a public facility like the Airport, Bombardier and Clark County also argued that even if CBE-552 was otherwise considered to be a public works project, it is nonetheless outside the scope of Chapter 338's coverage. Indeed, it is hard to imagine a contract more in line with the Legislature's intention for the exemption: the ATS is the *only* way to ensure the timely transport of passengers between Terminal 1 and the C and D

NRS 338.011 Applicability: Contracts related to normal operation and normal maintenance; contracts related to emergency. The requirements of this chapter do not apply to a contract:

^{1.} Awarded in compliance with <u>chapter 332</u> or <u>333</u> of NRS which is directly related to the normal operation of the public body or the normal maintenance of its property.

Concourses. The ATS' successful operation – which requires its successful maintenance – lies at the core of the Airport's ability to service the millions of individuals who visit the Las Vegas Valley each year.

Finally, Bombardier argued that CBE-552 was exempt under NRS 338.080(1) because Bombardier is a "railroad company" which manufactures, installs, and operates railroad equipment and systems around the globe, and under Nevada law, railroad companies are excused from Chapter 338's requirements.

The Labor Commissioner rejected these contentions. His reasoning, however, was arbitrary and capricious, and his interpretations of NRS 338.010(16), NRS 338.11(1) and NRS 338.080 are both contrary to law and not supported by substantial evidence. Accordingly, the issues before the Court are:

- 1. Whether the Labor Commissioner's conclusion that the work performed pursuant to CBE-552 is a "project" within the meaning of NRS 338.010(16) should be vacated because it is contrary to the plain meaning of the statute and not supported by substantial evidence.
- 2. Whether the Labor Commissioner's conclusion that CBE-552 is not directly related to the normal operation of the Airport because it is possible for the Airport to "function" without the automated train system, and that NRS 338.011(1) therefore does not apply, should be vacated because it is both contrary to the plain meaning of the statute and not supported by substantial evidence.
- 3. Whether the Labor Commissioner's conclusion that CBE-552 is not directly related to the normal maintenance of the Airport,

- and that NRS 338.011(1) therefore does not apply, should be vacated because it is both contrary to the plain meaning of the statute and not supported by substantial evidence.
- 4. Whether the Labor Commissioner's determination that Bombardier is not a "railroad company" and therefore exempt under NRS 338.080, despite the fact that more than 50% of its revenue is derived from the manufacture, operation and/or sale of railroad vehicles and railroad equipment, should be vacated because it is contrary to the plain meaning of the statute and not supported by substantial evidence.

If the Court does not vacate the Labor Commissioner's decision on the grounds set forth above, there are additional issues to consider with respect to the Labor Commissioner's remedy. For the sake of clarity, the issues presented by the remedy are discussed below in Section IX.

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ROUTING OF THE APPEAL

Bombardier is appealing a final order issued by an administrative agency: the Nevada Labor Commissioner. Although such matters are presumptively appropriate for assignment to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b)(4), the Court should hear this case in the first instance. It has primary jurisdiction over matters which present questions of first impression as well as matters which preset questions of statewide importance. *See* NRAP 17(a)(13) and (14). This case meets both requirements. It presents issues of first impression regarding the interpretation and meaning of several provisions within NRS Chapter 338.

The Court has not previously considered whether work performed under a maintenance contract like Bombardier's contract with Clark County is a public works project within the meaning of NRS 338.010(16). It has not previously considered NRS 338.011(1) and the applicability of its exceptions for contracts which relate directly to the normal operation or normal maintenance of a public body like Clark County or public property such as the Airport and its ATS system. And, not surprisingly, the Court has not previously considered a dispute which required it to interpret the meaning of NRS 338.080's exemption for railroad companies.

These issues of first impression are not merely of legal importance. Their resolution will have enormous practical implications for county and municipal governments, their contracting practices, and their budgets. As the County has argued from the case's inception, the financial impact of requiring prevailing wage rates for normal, everyday maintenance required to keep critical systems operational and in good working order could be crippling for both the County and its tax payers.

The Court may of course find that the Labor Commissioner's interpretation of the aforementioned statutes is correct and deny Bombardier's appeal. But given the matter's legal novelty as well as its statewide importance, this appeal should be heard by this Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(13) and (14).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As noted above, the Union initiated the Complaint process by letter dated October 9, 2009. The Deputy Labor Commissioner issued the Complaint on October 13, 2009. He directed the Clark County Department of Aviation ("DOA") to conduct an investigation into the Union's allegations and determine whether Bombardier had committed a violation. On November 24, 2009, the DOA announced its determination. EOR02812-02814. It had conducted an investigation into the work performed under the Contract, reviewing both the County's past practice and the Clark County District Attorney's interpretation of NRS 338.011(1). Based on that analysis, he found that CBE-552 and the work performed thereunder is exempt:

The purpose of maintenance is to care for, preserve and keep in proper condition. It is obvious that maintenance work requires the inclusion of repairs in order to keep things operating and in proper condition. Windows need replacing. Lights need to be kept working. Sprinklers need repair. County vehicles need new brakes and the [ATS] System needs to be kept in operating condition. ... Further research on other maintenance contracts within the Clark County Department of Aviation and other local government entities has reinforced that this type of contract for maintenance and repair is not a public work.

Id. at EOR02813. Accordingly, "[i]t is the opinion of the District Attorney's office [and] the Clark County Department of Aviation and Purchasing Administration ...

that [CBE-552] is a maintenance and repair contract [that is not] ... subject to prevailing wage under NRS Chapter 338." *Id.* at EOR02814.

The Union objected to the DOA's findings. Its objection was based on a clear misapprehension of the meaning of NRS 338.011(1), which exempts work not only because of the type of work performed but also because of its immediate relationship to a local government's normal operations or the maintenance of its property. The Deputy Commissioner nonetheless sent the Union's objection to the DOA on December 31, 2009, instructing the DOA to analyze the scope of work performed under the Contract to determine if that work constituted "normal maintenance" as opposed to "a modernization, an upgrade, a remodel, etc., and therefore subject to the provisions of NRS Chapter 338." *See id.* Although NRS 338.011(1) is written in the disjunctive, the Deputy Commissioner said *nothing* about analyzing whether the work was directly related to the Airport's normal operations. *Id.*

On March 30, 2010, the DOA affirmed its decision that CBE-552 was exempt. EOR02815-02817. The DOA explained that it had conducted interviews with "Bombardier on site managers as well as most of the Bombardier employees performing the work" required by the Contract. It had also reviewed the scope of work contemplated by CBE-552 and found that "throughout the investigation process none of the work appeared to be modernization, upgrades, remodels, etc...

All of the work that was identified through interviews and observations was maintenance of the existing equipment and therefore not subject to the provisions of NRS 338." *Id*.

The Labor Commissioner ultimately conducted a hearing in June and September 2013. He issued his final decision on March 6, 2014. EOR3939-3952. He held that CBE-552 is a public works project covered by NRS Chapter 338's prevailing wage requirements and that certain work performed under its terms must be compensated at prevailing wage rates. EOR3941.

The Labor Commissioner rejected Bombardier and Clark County's arguments that the work was exempt under NRS 338.011(1), asserting that CBE-552 was not directly related to the normal operation of the Airport because it was possible for the Airport to "function" without the ATS. EOR3942. He found that CBE-552 was not directly related to the normal maintenance of the ATS because employees were occasionally responsible for doing repair work. EOR3942-43. The Labor Commissioner rejected Bombardier's contention that it was exempt as a "railroad company" because he believed NRS 338.080(1) was intended to exempt only those railroad companies which operate exclusively in Nevada. EOR3944-45. Lastly, the Labor Commissioner determined that Bombardier's maintenance

technicians should be classified as elevator constructors and that 20% of the work performed under CBE-552 required compensation at prevailing wage rates. EOR3946-51.

Bombardier filed its Petition for Judicial Review on April 4, 2014. The Eighth Judicial District Court denied Bombardier's Petition on July 11, 2016. The Court noted that it may have ruled differently had it heard the case in the first instance, but nonetheless affirmed the Labor Commissioner's decision.² Bombardier filed a timely appeal on August 16, 2016.

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. McCarran's ATS System.

Approximately 40 million travelers utilize McCarran Airport each year. The vast majority of those travelers pass through the C and D concourses, and both concourses depend on the ATS to transport passengers to and from their gates.

Bombardier installed the original ATS train in 1985 during the construction of the C Concourse. EOR01587:11-01588:22. At the time, the only way to access the C Concourse was by train. *Id.* Even now, after the Airport constructed a new

9

The District Court's Order adopts arguments and reasoning from Respondents' briefs. It is entitled to no deference here. *See Kay v. Nunez*, 122 Nev. 1100, 1105, 146 P.3d 801, 805 (2006).

walking ramp to the C Concourse, at least 30% of departing travelers take the ATS to the C Concourse, and virtually all arriving passengers take the ATS from the concourse to the terminal. *Id*.

The Airport's next major expansion occurred in 1998 with the construction of the D Concourse. EOR01982-01988. Almost half of the gates currently open for operation are located there, and like the C Concourse, the ATS is the only direct link between it and the terminal. *Id.* Randy Walker, the former Director of Aviation, explained: "It was part of the plan and part of the operational scheme of the airport to have the train system[.]" EOR01588:9-20.

Unlike the C Concourse, the D Concourse has never been physically connected to Terminal 1. *Id.*; *see also* EOR2584. Nor is it physically connected to the recently constructed Terminal 3. *Id.* Passengers flying airlines which maintain ticketing facilities at Terminal 3 but fly from the D Concourse must use the ATS to access their departure gate. *Id.*; EOR01596:13-EOR01597:8; *see also* EOR01989-01990.

For these reasons, the maintenance of the ATS system is critical to the Airport's operation. As Mr. Walker explained:

Without a very high efficiency rate for the trains – the contract requires 99-point some percent reliability – there would be significant operational problems for the Airport in terms of delivering our customers either from

ticketing and the checkpoint to the gates, or getting people from gates to their baggage claim and transportation network.

There is no alternative system that I'm aware of at any airport in the world that can move the volumes of passengers, particularly that we have from Terminal 1 and Terminal 3 to the D Gates, as efficiently as a train system[.] ... It would be impossible ... to properly manage that part of the airport without a train system.

EOR01596:13-EOR01597:8; *see also* EOR01989-01990 (the ATS system is "vital and integral to the airport's operation"). Moving passengers from the terminal to gates and from the gates to the terminal is the purpose of the Airport's "existence. The airport exists to facilitate transfer ... between two modes of transportation. ... That's what we're about. That's our very existence. If we can't do that, we're failing our principal requirement." EOR01597:12-17.

B. Bombardier Was The Exclusive Provider of Operations And Maintenance Services For McCarran's ATS System, And CBE-552 Governed The Terms And Conditions Under Which Those Services Were Provided.

The County selected Bombardier to install the ATS system utilized for the C and D Concourses – as well as the T3 terminal – after the completion of a competitive design process. EOR01591:16-:4. Upon the completion of each installation, Bombardier's innate capacity to offer competitively priced services on its own equipment led the County to enter into a series of maintenance contracts which culminated with its most recent iteration, CBE-522, in 2008. *Id.*; EOR1991-

01992. As Mr. Walker explained, Bombardier's ability both to deliver reliable service and provide technical expertise was crucial to the ATS system's success. EOR01588:23-EOR01591:9; EOR01991-01992.

Clark County approved CBE-552 on June 3, 2008 and it terminated on May 2012.³ EOR1991-01992. The contract was awarded in accordance with NRS 332.115(1)(a) and (c). *Id.*; EOR01591:16-1592:4. Mr. Walker had concluded that competitive bidding for the Contract would be inappropriate and that approval was proper under NRS 332.115(1) because Bombardier is the only firm that can supply maintenance services for the ATS trains at McCarran:

We felt that the contract was best maintained by Bombardier since they were the installer of the system. The software clearly is a critical component of the operation of the system, and they're the only one that have access to that software.

Second, we were not aware at the time that there were any other providers that, third party providers that provided maintenance of Bombardier systems. ... And so for those reasons we believed it was best to renegotiate the contract with Bombardier.

EOR01591:16-:4.

-

Clark County treats all of its major maintenance contracts as exempt from prevailing wage under the same rationale. *See* EOR01993-02055; EOR01595:22:15. Most relevant to this case is the elevator maintenance contract, which is handled by Kone and which involves employees who are represented by the International Union of Elevator Constructors. *Id.* The contract is virtually identical to the one at issue. It is *not* covered by Chapter 338 and the Union has not filed a complaint regarding its coverage. *Id.*

As both Bombardier and County witnesses testified during the hearing, CBE-552 is a *maintenance contract*. *See*, *e.g.*, EOR01482:5-:16; EOR01486:7-21. It is designed around an "availability requirement," which is another way of saying that CBE-552 obligated Bombardier to ensure that the ATS was available for passenger service 99.65% of the time. To that end, the contract called for preventative and corrective maintenance of the system. *Id*.

Both aspects of Bombardier's maintenance strategy were memorialized in a written maintenance plan. EOR02550-02253; EOR02599-02602; EOR01486:2-12; EOR01494:22-EOR01496:25. Preventative maintenance was combined with corrective maintenance to create a

purpose built maintenance plan that is ... dynamic in nature. It always evolves based on the learnings that we have on reliability based maintenance.

What it involves is a schedule of tasks, based again on frequency, periodicity of maintenance, if we elect to do it on mileage, time or cycles. The schedule could be on a daily basis, dependent on the environment the vehicle or the system operates on.

Each inspection has a host of specific tasks which describe the how-to or the what-to ... do at what interval. And we ask our technicians to refer to the examination. It's called up based on the time I expressed earlier, and each one of the items is done in accordance to the task procedure. ...

[With respect to corrective maintenance] as part of the preventative maintenance program, you are purposely validating the condition of subsystems to ensure it meets expected standards and limits before the vehicle or wayside component is released back to service. If any one of those tasks is performed, and we identify an area where there is a substandard condition, we remedy that situation back to expected values before the equipment's back to service.

EOR01482:21-EOR01483:13.

Each procedure required was identified with a Preventative Maintenance ("PM") code. Most PM procedures were performed on a daily or weekly basis, requiring little more than visual and/or light instrument inspection. *Id.* Other procedures were performed less frequently because they involved both inspections and installation of replacement parts in accordance with predetermined time cycles or mileage. *Id.* Due to the Company's focus on availability and preventative maintenance, the ATS system very rarely experienced an unexpected equipment breakage that interrupted service and caused downtime. EOR01900:12-EOR01905:8. Maintenance Technician's workdays consisted of these well-defined sequences of tasks. They were very much like a Maytag repairman: upwards of 40% of their workday was dedicated to "recovery," which was nothing more than standby time. EOR2231-02249; EOR1507:1-EOR1508:25.

Bombardier tailored the time periods during which preventative and corrective maintenance was performed to the Airport's operational practices. The ATS is a "shuttle system" – meaning that the trains travel on two tracks, back and forth from the gates. There is therefore no way to remove a train from active

service and replace it with another while maintenance employees perform service work. EOR1488:10-EOR1489:22; EOR2584. As such, employees who worked during the day waited in standby in case something went wrong. Night shift employees performed a larger amount of preventative and corrective maintenance tasks during a concentrated nightly maintenance window when the trains were on a reduced operational schedule. *Id.*; EOR2250-02553; EOR2582-02598; EOR1497:13-EOR1498:14.

Finally, to confirm that the maintenance plan was sound, that the staffing model was correct, and that the percentage of preventative maintenance versus corrective maintenance remained at 90%/10% or better, Bombardier required its employees to track their labor hours using a computer program called SIMS. EOR1520:2-EOR1527:5. According to the records personally completed by the claimant employees during the relevant time period, the amount of work that the Union has attempted to characterize as "repair" amounted to 10% or less of the work performed under the contract. *Id.*; EOR2231-02249 and EOR2254-02461.

VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

NRS Chapter 338 requires employers to pay their employees prevailing wage rates only when an employee is (1) performing covered work on a public works project within the meaning of NRS 338.010(16), and (2) the work is not otherwise subject to exemption, such as NRS 338.011(1)'s exceptions for work

directly related to either normal operations or normal maintenance. Given that CBE-552 was a *maintenance* contract designed to ensure the continuous operation of the ATS – the lifeline which connects the Airport's ticketing and baggage area with the gates at the C and D Concourse – it is self-evident that Chapter 338's requirements do not apply. The Labor Commissioner's determination to the contrary is indefensible.

First, the Labor Commissioner was wrong to find that CBE-552 was covered by the Act. EOR3941:2-25. Under NRS 338.010(16), work is presumptively subject to prevailing wage only if: 1) the work concerns a project, and 2) the project is "for the new construction, repair or reconstruction of" a public work. CBE-552 does not satisfy either condition. The contract is not a project for the construction of a building or other "public work" as that term would have been understood when the prevailing wage law was enacted in 1937.⁴ See Thomas v. Nev. Yellow Cab Corp., 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 52, 327 P.3d 518, 522 (2014) ("The goal of ... interpretation is to determine the public understanding of a legal text leading up to and in the period after its enactment or ratification.") (quotations omitted). In 1937, it was well understood that prevailing wage laws were intended to protect local construction worker wage rates and preclude itinerant contractors

Prevailing wage laws were passed in the 1930's, first at the federal level and then in Nevada "in response to complaints about contractors importing low-wage workers. Background Paper 85-4, available online at: https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Division/Research/Publications/Bkground/BP85-04.pdf.

and workers from initiating a "race to the bottom" by using cheap labor to underbid local contractors for public construction contracts. *See*, Background Paper 85-4. And, while members of Nevada's Legislature in 1937 likely did not imagine the scope and size of a modern international airport like McCarran, the text of the statute as enacted, the legislative history, and the historical context do not suggest that the members intended to require prevailing wage payments for maintenance contracts which, by their ongoing and continuous nature, are not susceptible to predatory pricing by out of state contractors.

Just as critically, even if the traditional definition of a public works project could be stretched beyond buildings and structures to include non-construction work, CBE-552 is not encompassed within the text of the prevailing wage law. A public works project is subject to prevailing wage *only if* it is "*for*" construction, repair or reconstruction as required by NRS 338.010(16). The Labor Commissioner's decision fails to address this statutory requirement. Indeed, it appears that he did not even consider that portion of the statute because his factual findings – he held that 80% of the contract concerned maintenance and that no more than 20% of the work performed under the contract could constitute repair – confirm that CBE-552 was *for* the maintenance of, not the construction, reconstruction or repair of the ATS.

Second, even if CBE-552 theoretically was subject to Chapter 338, the Labor Commissioner committed reversible error where he failed to find that CBE-552 is nonetheless exempt under NRS 338.011(1), which exempts from Chapter 338's requirements all contracts that are "directly related to the normal operation of the public body or the normal maintenance of its property."

CBE-552 satisfies both of these independent and adequate grounds for exemption. The ATS' direct connection to the normal operation of the Airport is self-evident. The C and D Concourses were designed to use the ATS as the principal means of transporting passengers between the boarding and the baggage/ticketing areas. Seventy-eight percent of the Airport's gates rely on the ATS for access and the D Concourse cannot be accessed by the public during normal operations without the ATS. EOR1596:13-EOR1597:8. If the automated train system does not function at 99.65% reliability – a figure which can be achieved only through the work performed under the Agreement – the Airport cannot fulfill its "principal requirement." EOR1597:12-17.

Despite these undisputed facts the Labor Commissioner substituted his own personal judgment. He asserted that the Airport could still "function" without the automated train system and on that basis refused to apply the exemption. EOR3942. This interpretation of NRS 338.011(1), which equates "normal operation" with the ability to "function" is more than arbitrary and capricious. It is

completely illogical. Moreover, the conclusion that the Airport can "function" without the ATS is neither supported by substantial evidence nor consistent with his finding that the ATS is the "primary method of transporting passengers around the Airport property." EOR3942.

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