# S IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Supreme Court No. 71101 District Court Case No. A698764 Electronically Filed Feb 15 2018 03:43 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION, (HOLDINGS) USA, INC.,

Appellant,

vs.

NEVADA LABOR COMMISSIONER; THE INTERNATIONAL UNION OF, ELEVATOR CONSTRUCTORS; AND CLARK COUNTY,

Respondents.

# **RESPONDENT CLARK COUNTY'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

MARK J. RICCIARDI, ESQ. (SBN 3141) HOLLY E. WALKER, ESQ. (SBN 14295) FISHER & PHILLIPS LLP 300 S. Fourth Street Suite 1500 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 252-3131 <u>mricciardi@fisherphillips.com</u> <u>hwalker@fisherphillips.com</u> Attorneys for Respondent Clark County

#### I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Respondent Clark County agrees with and adopts the Jurisdictional Statement contained in Appellant Bombardier Transportation's Opening Brief.

### **II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

Respondent Clark County agrees with and adopts the Statement of the Issues contained in Appellant Bombardier Transportation's Opening Brief.

#### **III. ROUTING STATEMENT**

Respondent Clark County agrees with and adopts the Routing Statement contained in Appellant Bombardier Transportation's Opening Brief.

## IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Clark County agrees with and adopts the Statement of the Case contained in Appellant Bombardier Transportation's Opening Brief.

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Respondent Clark County agrees with and adopts the Statement of the Facts contained in Appellant Bombardier Transportation's Opening Brief.

#### VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Respondent Clark County agrees with and adopts the Summary of the Argument contained in Appellant Bombardier Transportation's Opening Brief.

#### VII. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Respondent Clark County agrees with and adopts the Standard of Review contained in Appellant Bombardier Transportation's Opening Brief.

#### **VIII. ARGUMENT**

Respondent Clark County, by and through its counsel of record, Mark J. Ricciardi, Esq., hereby responds to and joins Appellant Bombardier Transportation's Opening Brief ("AOB"), filed on December 1, 2017.

As Bombardier asserts in its Opening Brief, the type of contract at issue, CBE-552, has never been considered a public works project that requires the payment of prevailing wages under NRS Chapter 338. *See* AOB 1-2. Instead, CBE-552 is a contract providing for the maintenance of the automated train system ("ATS") at McCarran International Airport ("Airport"). *See id.* CBE-552 is similar to the County's other maintenance contracts, such as those for the maintenance of its buses and elevator systems, which also are not considered public works projects requiring the payment of prevailing wages under NRS Chapter 338. *See id.* 

Moreover, a contract awarded in compliance with NRS Chapter 332, which is directly related to the normal operation of the public body or the normal maintenance of its property, is not subject to the requirements of NRS Chapter 338. NRS 338.011(1). CBE-552 was awarded in compliance with NRS Chapter 332, and as Bombardier establishes in its Opening Brief, directly related to the normal operation and maintenance of the County's Airport. *See* AOB 12, 33-48. Thus, the prevailing wage and specialized bidding requirements of NRS Chapter 338 do not apply to CBE-552.

This Court has stated that it will reverse an administrative decision "that is clearly erroneous in light of reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record." *Day v. Washoe County Sch. Dist.*, 121 Nev. 387, 387, 116 P.3d 68, 69 (2005) (internal quotations omitted). Substantial evidence is "that which a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." *Id.* (internal quotations and citations omitted).

Here, both the Labor Commissioner and the district court ignored substantial evidence that Clark County has consistently handled all of its major maintenance contracts the same way – as exempt from the prevailing wage requirements. For over thirty years, Clark County has applied a common sense, reasonable interpretation of the plain language of NRS 338.011(1) to distinguish between ATS maintenance contracts and construction contracts. *See* Appellant Bombardier Transportation's Appendix ("ER") 0421, 1322 (briefing this issue before the Labor Commissioner). As Bombardier emphasizes, the purpose of NRS 338.011(1) was to prevent the overbroad and unreasonable interpretation of prevailing wage laws, which previously frustrated the local government's right

to opt-out of competitive bidding requirements when it best served the public interest. *See* AOB 46-47. In enacting NRS 338.011(1), the Legislature intended to provide a safe harbor to protect public entities from a multitude of obligations placed upon public works projects, as well as help them manage costs by avoiding the harmful impact of a 1944 Opinion of the Attorney General. *See* AOB 47-48; Respondent Clark County's Appendix ("RCCA") 0021-0022 (briefing this issue before the district court).

Whenever Clark County has previously contracted for the on-site construction or major rehabilitation of any part of its ATS, the County has required that prevailing wages apply to workers at the Airport site. *See* ER 0420-0422 (briefing this issue before the Labor Commissioner); RCCA 0013-0015 (briefing this issue before the district court); ER 0426-0469 (relevant portions of prior contracts to which Clark County has applied the prevailing wage requirements of NRS Chapter 338).

Likewise, whenever Clark County has contracted for the maintenance of the ATS, the County has regarded the procurement of the services, supplies, materials, and equipment necessary to the normal operation and normal maintenance of the ATS as a contract properly awarded pursuant to NRS Chapter 332. *See* ER 0423-0424, 1325-1326 (briefing this issue before the Labor Commissioner); RCCA 0013-0015 (briefing this issue before the district court); ER 0470-0549 (relevant portions of the "Shuttle Bus Operations and Maintenance for the Consolidated Car Rental Facility at McCarran International Airport" contract, which is analogous to CBE-552).

Further, the Labor Commissioner and the district court disregarded substantial evidence of the absolute necessity of the ATS system in relation to the normal operation and maintenance of the Airport. *See* AOB 35-41. Ample testimony, including testimony from Randall H. Walker (former Director of the Clark County Department of Aviation), was presented that the ATS system is essential to the Airport's normal operation and that the Airport simply cannot function without the ATS. *See* AOB 10-12, 20, 29-41; ER 1326-1329 (briefing this issue before the Labor Commissioner); RCCA 0013-0017 (briefing this issue before the district court).

The Labor Commissioner's clearly erroneous decision directly undermines Clark County's common sense and reasonable interpretation of NRS 338.011(1), which the County has consistently applied to its prior contracts for over thirty years. Not only is this decision legally improper, but it also has extensive repercussions on how the Clark County Department of Aviation will function within the state. Clark County is the largest local government entity in Nevada, and unlike other Departments within the Clark County government, the Department of Aviation operates without the County's general fund tax revenue. As such, the Department of Aviation must strive to achieve a delicate balance in its operations – between acting as a good steward of the assets it is entrusted to manage and staying competitive as a self-sufficient enterprise.

With the threat of the application of the prevailing wage and specialized bidding requirements of NRS Chapter 338, vendors must weigh the benefits of conducting business with Clark County with the risks of pending litigation. Thus, the Labor Commissioner's decision creates tension for the Department of Aviation's fiscal operations, which results in arduous consequences for the County. As a matter of public policy, it must be noted that the Department of Aviation is obligated, pursuant to its Federal Aviation Administration grant assurances, to be economically self-sustaining. Given such economic pressures and constraints, if CBE-552 and other maintenance contracts are expanded to be considered "public works" projects subject to prevailing wages under NRS Chapter 338, as incorrectly determined by the Labor Commissioner and the district court, then the costs of maintenance work at the Airport will significantly increase. Such increased costs would, in turn, force the Department of Aviation into situations where the Department will not bid maintenance contracts as often or at all. The Department of Aviation may simply elect to have its employees perform such maintenance, which would result in increased internal labor obligations, fewer bidding opportunities for contractors, and the possibility of inferior maintenance compared to what specialized maintenance contractors could perform. Additionally, the Department of Aviation may be forced to delay or completely forego performing certain maintenance. Under those realistic scenarios, the Airport would suffer from deteriorating facilities, which would impact Airport operations as well the traveling public's experience at the Airport.

Indeed, other contractors and labor unions are already using the clearly erroneous decisions from the Labor Commissioner and the district court in the subject case, in an attempt to apply an overly broad definition of "public works" to basic maintenance contracts. If this improper precedent from the Labor Commissioner and the district court is not overturned, labor unions and contractors will continue to try to apply prevailing wages to more and more maintenance contracts, which is contrary to NRS Chapter 332 and the explicit exception created by NRS 338.011(1).

///

///

- ///
- ///
- ///
- ///
- ///

### IX. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Clark County supports Bombardier in this appeal and concurs with the legal arguments, points, and authorities as presented in the Opening Brief. Thus, Clark County respectfully requests that this Court reverse and remand this matter because the district court erred in dismissing Bombardier's Petition for Judicial Review of the Labor Commissioner's decision.